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Hearing commenced at 1.32 pm 

 
WHITHEAR, MR RODNEY CHARLES 
Executive Director, Strategic Policy and Evaluation, Department of Treasury, examined: 
 
KANNIS, MR ANTHONY MICHAEL 
Executive Director, Infrastructure and Finance, Department of Treasury, examined: 
 

 

The CHAIRMAN: I will read you the statement and then we can get into some questions. Thanks 
for appearing this afternoon before the committee. The committee hearing is a proceeding of 
Parliament and warrants the same respect that proceedings in the house itself demand. Even though 
you are not required to give evidence on oath, any deliberate misleading of the committee may be 
regarded as a contempt of Parliament. Have you completed a “Details of Witness” form? 

The Witnesses: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: Did you understand the notes at the bottom of the form? 

The Witnesses: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: Did you receive and read an information for witnesses briefing sheet regarding 
giving evidence before parliamentary committees? 

The Witnesses: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: Do you have any questions relating to your appearance before the committee 
this afternoon?  

The Witnesses: No. 

The CHAIRMAN: Before we start, is there anything that you would like to put forward to the 
committee, or do you just want us to get into questions?  

Mr Kannis: Straight into questions. 

The CHAIRMAN: You have seen our terms of reference. The questions are all about housing and 
housing affordability. I suppose the first question is: can you just tell us what Treasury’s role is in 
monitoring the Department of Housing’s budget? 

Mr Whithear: The relationship between Treasury and the Department of Housing is a little 
different than some of the other agencies in that the Department of Housing—or Housing 
Authority—generates a lot of its own source revenue. It is not all budget funded, but obviously we 
pay quite some attention and scrutiny to budget funding bids from that department. We will advise 
government—make submissions to the Expenditure Review Committee of cabinet on how Treasury 
perceives the merits of various budget proposals, and we also do some performance monitoring of 
different kinds, as we do with other entities. 

The CHAIRMAN: I neglected to introduce the committee; I am sorry for that. Ian Britza is the 
member for Morley on my extreme right; Margaret Quirk is the member for Girrawheen; David 
Worth is the principal research officer for the committee; and Jovita Hogan is a research officer. I 
am Tony O’Gorman, the member for Joondalup. Sorry about that; that was very rude of me. 

You mentioned that Housing primarily funds itself. Can you tell us how they do that and what sort 
of protocols they have to go through with Treasury to get those bids in, if you like? 

Mr Whithear: There is not too much that they have to go through because they do operate as a 
statutory authority. Their own source revenue comes from land sales and the sale of properties when 
they turn over properties. They have sold some properties in recent times that have had high land 
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values that have allowed them to build more public housing. They also generate some income from 
rents, obviously. 

The CHAIRMAN: And the budget allocation that they get—is that a significant part or is that a 
minor part of their budget? You said they are self funding. 

Mr Whithear: Yes, it varies. There are some materials we could find for you that have shown the, I 
guess, fluctuating revenues from either their own source revenue or from the commonwealth and 
from the state government. They assume different proportions from time to time. The 
commonwealth stimulus package obviously had quite an impact and kicked up the revenue from 
that source, from the commonwealth, for a couple of years. That will then tail off a bit as those 
stimulus measures come to an end. 

The CHAIRMAN: Has the state government had to match any of that money from the 
commonwealth or add to it from its own budget, or does that come from the Department of Housing 
as well? 

Mr Whithear: They have. There were various initiatives that required state governments to match 
whatever the commonwealth tipped in. 

The CHAIRMAN: Is it possible to get that information? 

Mr Whithear: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: You can provide that to us? 

Mr Whithear: Yes. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I understand that Treasury did a paper on affordable housing earlier this year or 
late last year. Is that something that the committee can have access to? 

Mr Whithear: I am not aware of that. We do various pieces of analysis, but I am not aware of the 
specific paper that you are referring to, but I should be aware of it. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I ran into Mr Searle at a function and I mentioned it to him, and he was 
certainly aware of it, so it is coming out of DTF somewhere. Is it possible it could be in another area 
that you are not familiar with? 

Mr Kannis: I guess it might be, because Rod moved into the position in August 2010. I am not 
aware of it. There had been various internal discussion papers done within the department. Whether 
there was a public document — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I am not suggesting it was public. It was, I think, probably internal, but 
certainly Housing and Works had access to it. 

Mr Whithear: I would have identify which paper.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: If you would not mind undertaking to give us some more information on that. 
One of the submissions we have had made to us from seniors groups is the idea of seniors having 
the added incentive to downsize by some reduction or amnesty on their stamp duty for that process. 
Is that something that is actively being considered? And I mean that in the Yes Minister sense of the 
word. 

Mr Whithear: I have followed media reports and suggestions and the debate around the recent 
Productivity Commission report on aged-care solutions, so I guess I am aware of the concept, but 
that is not something that we are doing any significant work on. 

Mr Kannis: Not active.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I think it was in Retirees WA’s pre-budget submission. Maybe you could tell us 
what happens when those pre-budget submissions come in. 

[1.40 pm] 
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Mr Whithear: There are a range of entities that will put arguments from time to time for an 
increase in government benefits or a reduction in government taxes. I am sure you are aware of the 
various interest groups that will often make quite strong arguments and cases for reductions in tax 
or increase in government expenditure in different areas. Most of the time, if we receive those 
submissions in time for consideration when putting the budget together, we will examine the policy 
merits of some of those things. That one I do not recall us — 

Mr I.M. BRITZA: I do not know whether you can give an opinion, but do you think that if retirees 
in fact got that stamp duty discount, would it make a huge dent in the budget process?  

Mr Kannis: We have not done the calculation.  

Mr Whithear: It would completely depend on a whole range of assumptions, such as the level of 
discount of stamp duty, the expected turnover, take-up. It would be really impossible to give an 
indication of whether it would be a significant revenue loss or not without having reached a 
conclusion about the magnitude of the discount and then the transactions that might follow.  

The CHAIRMAN: Do you know what the total stamp duty on property transfers is, to the annual 
budget?  

Mr Kannis: We could find that. Not off the top of my head. We can — 

The CHAIRMAN: Do you mind sending that to us?  

Mr Kannis: Yes, certainly. That is public information  

The CHAIRMAN: Can I ask about royalties for regions and the funds that are allocated to the 
Department of Housing through royalties for regions: does Treasury have any role in monitoring 
that? Do you have any reporting back? Do we know how much royalties for regions money comes 
from the Department of Housing or vice versa?  

Mr Whithear: Our role is more significant in the budget process. When a housing initiative that 
might be funded from royalties for regions, for example this budget, there was an amount of funds, I 
think it was $35 million, to assist funding NGO housing, if you like, in the north west. We were 
across that as part of the suite of housing initiatives that were put forward in this budget. We are 
across them. The Department of Regional Development and Lands examines some of those things, 
then those initiatives will come into the budget process as a whole  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I must admit that as an outsider I have some difficulty in discerning what is 
funded out of royalties for regions and what is funded within the substantive budgets of the core 
agencies. I give an example: there was a need for something like 70 prison officer houses attached 
to Derby regional prison. Certainly in my day that was contemplated that that would be a core 
provision by the Department of Housing and Works. Suddenly, I find that part of that is now being 
financed by royalties for regions. I cannot understand what the criteria for that is. If it is a royalties 
for regions thing, do they not fund the whole lot? If it is Housing and Works, do they not fund the 
whole lot? I am not quite sure what the rationale for these sorts of allocations of moneys is?  

Mr Kannis: There was an allocation made for some Government Regional Officers’ Housing. That 
was done, I think, in the first allocation of moneys from royalties for regions. There is an appendix 
in budget paper No 3 which actually explains all of them. However, I can appreciate that when you 
transfer that into the agency’s budget statements, you see some correlation, if you see a funding 
source, for capital works, because you see it at the bottom of the table, but for operating revenue it 
is just “other revenue”.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: But you as Treasury officials—I am trying to work out what are the criteria that 
operate when a decision is made as to where funds are allocated from?  

Mr Kannis: Generally what has happened in the past, especially with the housing example, the 
Government Regional Officers’ Housing, there has generally been on the basis of a stimulus to the 
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investment. In that case it was determined that there was a bit of a high demand for GROH housing 
in regional areas; therefore there was a decision made to put royalties for regions moneys into the 
construction. Bearing in mind that the agencies also—there is still a lease cost that they pay, but this 
is offsetting the capital impact of building those houses. Generally in that case there was seen a 
need to accelerate the construction of housing.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I could ask either of you: one of the rationales for moving to community 
housing is that it then attracts commonwealth rental subsidy, there is no GST attached to that, so 
you get more bang for your buck, plus you get a bit more money coming from the commonwealth. 
Has there been any calculations or modelling done of how much more revenue is flowing into the 
system from the commonwealth through this move?  

Mr Whithear: I think we are at early days, so the housing authority is in the process of transferring 
particularly some commonwealth-funded housing stock to the community sector for exactly the 
reasons you articulated. I suspect Housing has, in their estimates of revenue, a view as to how much 
commonwealth funding will flow in rent assistance to the individual renter, if you like, whereas we 
do not keep a book of housing and who owns it and therefore what rent assistance might go to a 
person renting a house.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I am thinking system-wide, not just an individual. Clearly that is shifting costs 
across to the commonwealth.  

Mr Whithear: Yes. The commonwealth will be paying a greater proportion because they are 
paying rent assistance, but they will be paying it direct to an individual. That may allow housing to 
change its contribution to that house. The commonwealth clearly does expect—because it made the 
transfer of commonwealth-funded housing under the stimulus package to the community sector as a 
condition of that funding. It was in full expectation that that transfer would occur, an obligation on 
the states, and then there would be some flow of rent assistance to the renters of the newly owned 
community housing property.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: The fact that Department of Housing is transferring these assets, does that 
minimise their capacity to borrow, or has that been taken into account?  

Mr Whithear: It does not affect it —  

Mr Kannis: No, it does not.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: They have effectively got fewer assets, does that impact on their borrowing 
capacity?  

Mr Whithear: These were commonwealth-funded assets, so they did not have them three or four 
years ago, if you like; so yes, they came on the book, their asset value —  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: They are transferring more than just new funds, they are transferring existing 
stock, which in some cases has been in the possession of the department for many years.  

Mr Whithear: They have a plan to, but I do not believe any of that has occurred yet; therefore we 
would not have a —  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Let us put it this way: if they come along to you—being Treasury, you are 
oversighting these issues—what information would you need to satisfy yourself that is a prudent 
fiscal measure or that there will be some benefit for the state financially in doing that?  

Mr Whithear: Transferring the commonwealth assets, I understand, is a condition of the 
agreement, so we would effectively just let that go by. I would certainly like to see more evidence 
of a robust contractual framework that suggested the transfer of assets was then going to allow a 
community service provider to borrow against those assets and provide a greater community benefit 
because there is more public — 
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Ms M.M. QUIRK: But in terms of protecting the revenue or the fiscal status of the state, you 
would need to know more than that, would you not? 

Mr Whithear: We would, but that is the overarching policy aim, which is to make sure there are 
more houses available in the community. If that is facilitated by the transfer of that asset, I could 
certainly see circumstances where we will be comfortable that that policy aim will be being 
achieved. In terms of the asset value itself, yes, we do want to be assured that we are not giving 
away an asset for no public benefit.  

[1.50 pm] 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: So at this stage are you telling the committee that no assets other than those that 
are commonwealth assets have been transferred to the community housing sector? 

Mr Whithear: I am advised there have been a handful. I have certainly asked Housing to bring us 
into the loop before that is undertaken on any major scale. 

The CHAIRMAN: Can we get some more definite figures about how much has been transferred? 
Except for the commonwealth funded stuff—that is fine; we understand that position—what portion 
of Department of Housing and Works stock has been transferred? 

Mr Whithear: Yes, we will obtain that information. 

The CHAIRMAN: Does that actually affect the government’s financing as well, if those assets are 
transferred? 

Mr Whithear: Not in a material way. 

Mr Kannis: My understanding is that if the house is transferred at real value, we write off the value 
of the house. That is why I think for a number of these investments, they have to be treated as 
operating expenditure. So it is a loss on the income statement. 

The CHAIRMAN: We have heard a number of people talk about LandCorp. But LandCorp has 
actually told the committee that it gets an annual allocation of $4 million as part of a community 
service obligation, and those funds come from Treasury, and it can leverage off that. Can you tell us 
more about these funds and how LandCorp uses them? 

Mr Kannis: My understanding with the LandCorp moneys is that it is for regional townsite 
development that would not achieve a commercial return. That is my understanding, off the top of 
my head, of their funding arrangements. How they leverage that, it will be more so for regional 
housing, I would have thought; but, if you do not mind, I will get back to you on that one, because I 
understand that money was there for townsite development in cases where they did not get a 
commercial return on the development.   

The CHAIRMAN: The committee was also told by developers and people representing developers 
that the Department of Planning had prepared a business case for an electronic land development 
program. That was not approved by Treasury. Most of the witnesses to this inquiry have said the 
current paper-based system is too slow and affects the financial position of developers and adds to 
the cost of each house. Can you tell us why that was knocked back; and what more evidence do you 
need, as the Department of Treasury and Finance, to actually approve something like that, 
especially considering how the affordability of our housing has gone, where it is out of reach now 
for the average person; and developers—in fact, just about every man and his dog—have told us 
that we need a much faster system, a much better system and a much simpler system? 

Mr Kannis: First of all, Treasury only recommends. We do not officially refute or reject proposals. 
We make recommendations to the Economic and Expenditure Reform Committee. The proposal for 
an ELDP has been around for a number of years. It might even go back to the previous government, 
I think, when this was first proposed. The business case seems to be—the reliable cost of the project 
has been a factor.  Early on there was, I think, a provision made for some moneys to be allocated to 
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that project. However, the cost then actually exceeded that estimate, and I believe the agency was 
requested to go back and revise the business case based on their current estimate of the cost. So it 
has come down to a point of—I do not know exactly off the top of my head where that business 
case is at the moment, but my understanding is that we needed to firm up on the cost of the project 
before it was considered for funding. But I am happy to come back to you on that. 

The CHAIRMAN: Can you tell us how much that would cost? Essentially what the developers are 
telling us now is that they are bearing the costs of the slow process, whereas they are actually 
looking probably for the state to bear the cost of that, because they are saying the state is the one 
that is slowing it up. 

Mr Kannis: The last estimate of that I think was in the region of $25 million to $35 million—in 
that ballpark. I think that was the last estimate that I heard for that. 

Mr Whithear: We receive in any budget process a large number of IT development proposals, and 
often the idea is a sound one, but it is how it is costed and how it is done. We believe that there are a 
lot of other factors, apart from the fact that something is a good idea, that are brought to bear on 
whether it is funded or not. 

The CHAIRMAN: Has Treasury undertaken any modelling of alternatives to the current process of 
loading up homebuyers in new housing developments for the cost of infrastructure at the time of 
purchase? What this is about is that we have heard a reasonable amount of evidence now that 
previously when people bought a block, the infrastructure—the water, the power, the sewerage and 
all that—was actually amortised over the time that the house would be on the block, whereas now 
people are having to pay for it upfront. That is essentially because developers are having to pay to 
put in the infrastructure. Has Treasury done any modelling on that, and on how we can get land to 
the market cheaper? 

Mr Kannis: There has been no normal modelling about how we can get it to the market cheaper. 
But I know that in the case of water and electricity, there are upfront capital contributions, and 
generally that has come about not because of a cost benefit analysis, but more so because the large 
growth in development has meant that the capacity for the Water Cooperation to fund it from its 
existing capital program, for example, has been restricted. So in order to allow the facilitation of a 
development, obviously there is an option for upfront contributions to the utilities, is my 
understanding. But we have not done any modelling that would say that it is more appropriate. I 
think it is more a case of the rationalisation of the scarce capital to invest upfront. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Just on the timing of the planning approvals and what have you, has this area 
come within the analysis of the red tape committee or the work that Treasury does there in terms of 
complying with its COAG obligations in removing red tape; and what measures have been taken to 
address these complaints?  

Mr Kannis: Unfortunately neither Rod nor I is responsible for that group. But I do know that when 
new legislation comes before cabinet, the regulatory gate-keeping unit reviews all legislation to 
make sure that the regulations are not excessive. The detail of the red tape committee, I 
unfortunately do not have that; that comes within the immediate responsibility of another executive 
director, who is not here. But I do not doubt that some of those issues would have been considered. 
Some of the regulation through the process of land release would have been part of the analysis. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Could someone undertake to maybe advise the committee of what measures 
have been taken? 

Mr Kannis: I can find out what issues came out of the red tape analysis. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Yes. Thank you very much. 

Mr Kannis: It also probably comes under the approvals development task force. 
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The CHAIRMAN: Is any research being done by Treasury on alternative options such as debt 
financing of infrastructure projects? There is an example in the United States of a program that is 
known as tax increment financing, or TIF. Is any work being done on that? What we are trying to 
find out is what the state, aside from Housing and Works, is doing to put more affordable housing in 
the marketplace. 

Mr Kannis: I think Treasury is aware of those other options that are available for the financing. 
However, the issue becomes that—Rod might be able to expand on this as well—generally debt  
hits the balance sheet. So we are restricted in the instrument that we can use to raise the capital 
without hitting our balance sheet anyhow, in the same way that borrowing would be restricted 
through Treasury Corporation, for example. I think are we continuing, through Treasury, to explore 
any options that might be available that would remove that bottleneck, because clearly that is the 
case for all infrastructure, not just land release. But certainly, on the example that you use, we have 
not done any formal analysis. We are aware that it is around and are open for those sorts of options 
to be considered in infrastructure funding generally, but we have not done anything formally at this 
point in time on that. 

The CHAIRMAN: The Henry tax review says that the existing stamp duty on property transactions 
is a highly inefficient tax and should be abolished. I think Retirees WA and a lot of other people say 
that it should be abolished. In fact, the impression out there is that under the GST, it should have 
been abolished. A number of people have said that. Can you give us your opinion on that—or 
Treasury’s opinion? It is one of the ugly sisters! 

[2.00 pm] 

Mr Whithear: That takes us straight to the tax imbalance between the commonwealth and the 
states. That is a complex issue that was considered by Dr Henry and many others. If the state has a 
more limited revenue base than its spending responsibilities, it is hard for the state to reduce its 
taxes. I cannot recall the proportion of state government revenue that comes from stamp duty, but it 
is a significant source of revenue. I am sure that all of us would like to see fewer taxes but at the 
same time we would like to see more hospitals and schools and those sorts of things. I do not think 
it is something that any of us can wish away; it is a source of revenue for the state that would have 
to be replaced by something else if it were reduced or done away with. 

The CHAIRMAN: Can I ask a probably very naive and maybe even stupid question? Listening to 
the Treasurer in our government, Eric Ripper, the current Treasurer and Troy Buswell before him, 
the inference is that because we are doing so well as a state that our GST revenue drops, but if we 
dropped our stamp duty and therefore were not seen to be doing as well on our balance book, if you 
like, would that not increase our GST? Would one counteract the other? 

Mr Kannis: I should probably point out that because of the brief we were given, if we thought we 
would be talking about funding—we can take it on notice — 

The CHAIRMAN: Is it possible to get that? People have asked me that when I am out, and I have 
no idea. It would be great to have an answer for them. If we dropped however much we collect in 
stamp duty —say $2 billion—would it lift our GST revenue? Would one counteract the other? I do 
not know. 

Mr Whithear: The Commonwealth Grants Commission also examines things like the state’s 
capacity to raise revenue, so even if you reduced those, you would not necessarily get the full credit 
in the GST sense. We will get back to you about this, but I just make the point that that is one of the 
factors. 

The CHAIRMAN: I am asking that as a person who is very ignorant about state debt and state 
finances. I do not understand them, but it is a question that just about every person asks me, so it is 
worth getting an answer. 

Mr Kannis: We would prefer to make sure that we get the answer right. 
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Mr Whithear: At the very least, it would take several years to come through. If you reduced your 
tax revenues from any particular source, the Commonwealth Grants Commission would usually 
take about three years to make that adjustment, so you would have to live without that revenue for a 
while. 

The CHAIRMAN: But the federal government has been saying that under the GST that is one of 
the taxes that should have gone. I remember hearing that many times. Have they already accounted 
for that in determining our GST portion? 

Mr Kannis: I do not believe so. 

The CHAIRMAN: We will leave you to dig up the answer to that one! 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: One of the issues that has come up in other states is that local governments 
have entered into some projects as partners and got the NRAS funding through their participation 
and often for making an in-kind contribution, such as land. There are some restrictions here on local 
governments being involved in enterprises because of the Local Government Act. From a Treasury 
perspective, are there any concerns about local governments having the capacity to get involved in 
these sorts of enterprises? 

Mr Whithear: At a principle level, I guess it all comes down to the terms of the deal. If local 
governments are taking on burdens that they cannot fulfil, such as indemnities and joint ventures, it 
is a personal supposition that one of the reasons behind the Local Government Act was to curtail 
some of those types of activities because if inexperienced people enter into joint ventures and things 
it is not difficult to get burnt. I think that is the general concern about some of those things. Again, 
you would have to look at the specifics of the case to see whether it was worthwhile trying to drive 
some of those. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: From a general proposition, that is a whole area of people who could be 
contributing to the affordable housing market that are constrained from doing so. 

Mr Whithear: We have not been overrun by local governments saying, “Here, we have land to gift 
into some sort of venture to increase the level of affordable housing available.” If there were local 
governments with such noble aims and intents, I am sure that we would — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Quite often that is to do with workers. They cannot house their workers nearby. 
They need people to do all the things that local government workers do. It is a major issue in some 
of our local government authorities, such as in Karratha. 

The CHAIRMAN: I cannot remember whether it was the Broome council or the Shire of Derby–
West Kimberley that wanted to enter into a joint venture with a modular building contractor. If I 
remember correctly, the evidence they gave to us was that the Local Government Act restricted that. 
That was about getting some housing for their own staff as well as other people coming into the 
towns. The issue was that we have hamstrung them. 

Mr Whithear: That may well be the case. Whether there are any avenues around that, I cannot tell 
you. I do not know the act. 

The CHAIRMAN: Do you have any role in reporting on the federal funds and how that comes 
through, such as the National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness? That is approximately 
$300 million this financial year. Do you have a role in that, and can you can you tell us what your 
role is if you do? 

Mr Whithear: Treasury tries to coordinate all the national partnership agreements with the 
commonwealth, but the relevant line agency, whether it be Health or Housing, in this instance, is 
responsible for analysing it, entering into it and reporting against it. We try to stay on top of it, 
particularly when agencies are not as vigorous as we think they should be to obtain the 
commonwealth funding under those agreements. It is perhaps not as hands-on as you might think. 
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The CHAIRMAN: I know that the Department of Housing generates most of its own income. 
What is its allocation from the budget, and has it gone up significantly in the past five or 10 years to 
meet demand? 

Mr Whithear: To start with the overarching level, the revenue going to housing has risen 
significantly. In 2005-06, it totalled $725 million and it peaked in 2009–10 at $1.6 billion. 

The CHAIRMAN: Is that from the state? 

Mr Whithear: No, that is aggregate; that is from all sources of revenue. State funds in 2008–09 
were $581 million and they dropped to $265 million in 2009–10, $132 million in 2010–11 and 
$277 million in 2011–12. Those fluctuations almost match the offsetting fluctuations in 
commonwealth revenue. 

The CHAIRMAN: As the commonwealth revenue went up, did the state’s contribution go down? 

Mr Whithear: It was a bit of both. The revenue for the housing authority has grown dramatically in 
the last five or six years. At different times over that period there have been large injections by 
either the state or the commonwealth. In 2007–08 it was $1.082 billion, then $1.346 billion, 
$1.6 billion and back down to $1.3 billion. For example, in 2008–09 there was a very large injection 
of state funds of $581 million, but only $200 million in commonwealth funds. The following year it 
effectively reversed, with the commonwealth injecting $608 million and the state declining back to 
almost 50 per cent at $265 million. So, aggregate growth, different sources of revenue, I think — 

[2.10 pm] 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Is a lot of the state contribution because that is contingent on the 
commonwealth giving the money? 

Mr Whithear: That may have had a bearing on different initiatives where the commonwealth has 
said, “We will give you this, but the state must match funds.” That is an obvious example. I suspect, 
though, that there are just different budget imperatives each year that drive different things. This 
year major funding was given to Disability Services, the Mental Health Commission and the Drug 
and Alcohol Office for the Housing Authority, which will get the revenue to deliver housing. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is for 269 houses. 

Mr Whithear: Yes, or 278. But it is in that vicinity, yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: Does that not seem a bit odd that we are in the middle of a crisis, if you like, at 
the moment in terms of accommodation, affordable housing, social housing and all those sorts of 
things, and the commonwealth government recognises that—it recognises it across the country—
and it increases the funding, but, by the same token, the state allocation is reduced? Would it not 
make more sense that the state budget’s contribution—not that it is set, because it is always 
dynamic—would remain the same or increase slightly to meet the demand, or is that just too 
simple? 

Mr Whithear: There are different budget imperatives in each year. I guess I would just explore that 
assumption a little further. I realise that just about everybody who has fronted this committee will 
tell you how grim things are, and for some people there is no doubt that they are. As dry Treasury-
type people, we try to look at the numbers. I did bring some charts that come from HIA and others 
that really suggest that, yes, affordability changed dramatically in Perth and surrounds in that period 
from 2002 to 2007, if you like, but prices have been tracking extremely flat since then. There was a 
big problem created up to 2007 but it has not got any worse since then. 

The CHAIRMAN: But, realistically, back in 2002, the median house price was here. Between 
2002 and 2007, it got up here. Now we have dropped down here. 

Mr Whithear: Indeed, but it has been flat for about four years, I guess, is my point. 

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, but it is flat at a very high rate. 
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Mr Whithear: Yes, and we are trying to address, I guess, your committee and others.  

The CHAIRMAN: That is my question. Between 2002 and 2007, it ramped up and now it has 
evened out, albeit at a higher level. The indications are that the state is going to have significant 
growth again into the future, with a significant number of migrants coming into the state—whether 
they are from the eastern states or from overseas—which will then put more pressure on housing. 
While it is flat, would it not be the appropriate time to actually add to the stock to make sure that we 
house the people who are  homeless at the moment, or almost homeless, because some of them are 
sofa-surfing and things like that, so that when we do get the upsurge, we are in a better position to 
take care of what might drop out? Every time we get a boom or a big upsurge, we get a lot of people 
who drop out and are sitting on the bottom. That seems to have grown from 2002 to 2011. We are 
not addressing that. That is what the purpose of the committee is—to find a way that we can address 
that. That is why I am asking the question: does it not seem reasonable—maybe it is just too simple; 
maybe I think too simply—that once we get the level up here, we need to actually put in some more 
money while it is running flat? That will keep the builders and the developers reasonably happy and 
we can fulfil the demand that we have. When it takes another upsurge, we can deal with that when 
we get to it. But now we are going to get worse and worse. 

Mr Whithear: Again, there are a few component parts there. Overarching, in 2003-04 the total 
budget for government housing in this state was under $600 million. It had a peak of $1.6 billion in 
2009–10, largely due to commonwealth money, and we are tracking at $1.3 billion or $1.4 billion. It 
takes a lot of stamp duty, by the way, to raise enough money to spend $1.4 billion on public 
housing. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is through the Department of Housing sole financing. It is through federal 
government money that is coming but, at the same time, the state contribution, through the normal 
budget process, has reduced. Would it not have made sense to at least maintain that at $580 million? 
That is $220 million that would have built a lot of houses. 

Mr Whithear: And that was a peak, but we had a trough in 2005–06 and 2006–07. For 2005, the 
state was putting only $40 million or $50 million into public housing and $96 million in 2006-07. 
There was massive jump really from $96 million to nearly $600 million, and we are tracking along 
at between $150 million and $250 million. 

The CHAIRMAN: I understand that, and I think that is fine. It does not really matter who was in 
government; we dropped it. Then we had the build-up of people on the waiting list. A significant 
amount was put in to try to address that. The waiting list still went up, because we are in this 
economic upturn. We get more people who fall out the bottom who go on the waiting list, but we 
have dropped from the peak to about $220 million less. If we had actually maintained the peak, 
could we have had some of those 20 000 or 24 000 people on the waiting list reduced by now? 
Realistically, the state needs about 20 000 houses by 2020. How are we going to meet that target? 

Mr Whithear: Indeed. I attended, with Grahame Searle, the head of Housing, a meeting with the 
directors general of all the housing departments nationally a few months ago in Melbourne. They all 
brought along their pet Treasury official to try to convince them of —  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: So you are the pet Treasury official! 

Mr Whithear: They were there to try to make a case to all my equivalents that theirs was the 
greatest need in government and therefore should be given more money. One of the things I took 
out of that meeting was that all the directors general said that there was no way that they could find 
the billions of dollars to meet the need of every person who would really prefer a government 
house. It is a national problem. We have our own circumstances in WA. But it was interesting to get 
that conclusion from all the heads of the housing departments that it was just — 

The CHAIRMAN: I accept that we can never house every single person who puts up their hand for 
a state government house. That is just silly. We all recognise that. But the housing affordability 
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strategy is saying that we are on a continuum. Social housing is the bottom of the continuum and it 
is a short-term thing. It is the safety net. That is what you get when you cannot afford the private 
rental market and when you cannot afford to buy privately. We have 20 000-odd applications, 
which equates to about 55 000 people currently on the waiting list. So the safety net of social 
housing is no longer there for them, and that is the bit that is missing. When you get to somebody 
who can afford the market rent or who can afford to buy at the bottom end of the market and work 
their way up, they have good jobs and they need them because we are looking at around $300 000 
as the entry point for most people these days. We still have a significant number—55 000 people—
who are not even making that. They are either double-bunking with family or they are sofa-surfing, 
if they are young people, but maybe not only young people. Surely we have to contribute more so 
that we can make sure that the safety net is there.  

[2.20 pm] 

I accept that we will never have full housing occupancy, but we will always have a level of the 
population that we just cannot manage to house. But can we continue to let it grow at the rate it has 
been growing? It has grown quite significantly over the last 10 years. If that continues for the next 
10 years, are we going to see 100 000 people on the waiting list? It would be a very sad state of 
affairs for a state as wealthy as WA to have that. So what I am asking is: how much money would it 
take to actually just maintain the stock that we have at the moment so we do not continually add to 
the waiting list? 

Mr Kannis: I have not got that in front of me, but I guess Housing would be the best to explain 
what is required. 

The CHAIRMAN: I have no criticism of the Department of Housing because I think that with what 
it has, it has actually leveraged it very well. With the federal funds that it has had and the way it has 
been able to spend them, it was able to up-gear a lot of that, so it got two for one, or three for one in 
some instances, for the dollar that they got. But realistically, we still have a huge waiting list and we 
do not seem to be eroding it away, and I would like to see it eroded away at a rate of 5 000 every 
couple of years, or every year. 

Mr Kannis: I think the point that Rod might have been trying to make earlier was about the overall 
prioritisation. I think we are seeing a situation where we are fortunate to have a growth in overall 
expenditure, regardless of funding sources. I think your question might be: why do we not just 
maintain our level and take the commonwealth money on top of that? Unfortunately, with the 
competing priorities—as you might appreciate—we have to compare this priority of housing people 
who cannot afford to live in a home with providing health services and education services, so it is 
probably an opportunity where, what we are seeing is, with the government contribution, we are 
still seeing a significant growth in the total spend, and that is ultimate. From all sources, the total 
spend is growing, and in seeing that, I guess that would mean that we might need to invest state 
funds in other areas to get a balance across the board. Issues such as health, electricity, water — 

The CHAIRMAN: I think that is the question at the moment because we know, and the research 
tells us, that if somebody has a safe home, they will have better health, better opportunities for 
employment and better opportunities for education. That is the very basic building block; once you 
have that, all those other things come. Once you are in there, and you are earning an income, you 
are contributing back to the state, so it is a catch-22, wherever you put it. Do we put it into health, 
where we have a homeless person who needs significant care at a high cost, or do we provide the 
house at a very base level to put the homeless person in, who can then get better and not have to go 
into the high-cost medical care. 

Mr Kannis: If you were starting from scratch, I think you would go for the latter. Unfortunately, if 
we were to build up the housing investment and then the health investment at the other end—it is a 
bit like the corrective services model; we would all like to have more investment upfront to avoid 
people going into prisons, and it is probably a similar analogy, but unfortunately we have a situation 
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of demand in the health and education area, so there would have to be a significant uplift in debt for 
that to happen. The way of doing it is to actually keep biting away at the problem; that would be our 
assessment of it. I think there is evidence that while we might argue between funding sources, the 
investment is growing so that we can attempt to bite it off. You might argue that it is not at a 
significant enough rate, but we are attempting to bite it off and achieve all outcomes, where 
ultimately we will be hopefully in a better situation. 

Mr Whithear: Government funding has tripled, but the waiting list has multiplied by more, so I do 
not think we can say that the response of governments has been nonexistent. It has been there, and 
there is now an extra billion dollars plus around that has to be paid by taxpayers in this state to fund 
that, and that looks like it will continue. I am sure we can expect budget bids from housing in each 
of the forthcoming budgets, and — 

The CHAIRMAN: They will probably hold up this committee report—“they said it”! 

Mr Whithear: They will have some successes, and some days they will not be so happy with. I 
guess it is just how governments work. 

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, thank you very much for coming in. We were not too rough on 
you; we were fairly gentle! I will read you the closing statement so you know what happens from 
here on in. Thanks for giving your evidence before the committee this afternoon. A transcript of the 
hearing will be forwarded to you for correction of minor errors. Please make these corrections and 
return the transcript within 10 working days of the date of the covering letter. If the transcript is not 
returned within this period, we will deem it to be correct. New material cannot be introduced via 
these corrections and the sense of your evidence cannot be altered. Should you wish to provide 
additional information or elaborate on particular points, could you please include a supplementary 
submission for the committee’s consideration when you return your corrected transcript of 
evidence? Thanks again for making yourselves available this afternoon. 

Hearing concluded at 2.25 pm  


